FILED SID J. WHITE JUN 6 1995 HENRE COURT CLERK. Bγ Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 85,680 District Court of Appeal, 1st District - Nos. 94-1854 94-1881

CANAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD DEWEY REED,

Respondent,

CANAL INSURANCE COMPANY

Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL YORK,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER/APPELLANT, CANAL INSURANCE COMPANY

INTRODUCTION
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
ISSUE ON APPEAL
WHEN AN INSURANCE COVERAGE ISSUE HAS BEEN DECIDED IN A THIRD-PARTY DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION BETWEEN AN INSURER AND ITS INSURED, PRIOR TO A FINAL DETERMINATION OF LIABILITY IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION, AND, AS A RESULT, THE INSURER MUST PROVIDE LIABILITY COVERAGE FOR THE INSURED IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION, MAY THE INSURER SEEK IMMEDIATE REVIEW OF THE ORDER ENTERED IN THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION AND, IF SO, WHAT CONSTITUTES THE PROPER
AVENUE OF REVIEW: PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI, APPEAL OF A NON-FINAL ORDER PURSUANT TO RULE 9.130 OR APPEAL OF A FINAL ORDER?
AVENUE OF REVIEW: PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI, APPEAL OF A NON-FINAL ORDER PURSUANT TO RULE 9.130 OR APPEAL OF A FINAL ORDER? SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
AVENUE OF REVIEW: PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI, APPEAL OF A NON-FINAL ORDER PURSUANT TO RULE 9.130 OR APPEAL OF A FINAL ORDER?
AVENUE OF REVIEW: PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI, APPEAL OF A NON-FINAL ORDER PURSUANT TO RULE 9.130 OR APPEAL OF A FINAL ORDER? SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
AVENUE OF REVIEW: PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI, APPEAL OF A NON-FINAL ORDER PURSUANT TO RULE 9.130 OR APPEAL OF A FINAL ORDER? SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>CASES</u>:

.

<u>American States Ins. Co. v. Baroletti</u> , 566 So.2d 314 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)
Florida Insurance Guaranty Assoc. v. Sechler, 478 So.2d 365 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985)
<u>Georgia American Ins. Co. v. Rios</u> , 491 So.2d 1290 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986)
<u>Indem. Ins. Co. of N. Am. v. Ridenour</u> , 629 So.2d 1053 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)
<u>Insurance Co. of North America v. Querns</u> , 562 So.2d 365 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)
<u>Jefferson Ins. Co. v. Sea World of Fl., Inc.</u> , 586 So.2d 95 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991)
Lynch Davidson v. Griffin, 182 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1966) 22
<u>Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage</u> , 509 So.2d 1097 (Fla. 1987) . 18
McRae v. Snelling, 303 So.2d 670 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974) 20, 23
Merchants and Businessmen's Mutual Ins. Co. v. Bennis, 636 So.2d 593 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)
<u>SAFECO Ins. Co. v. Hawkeye</u> , 218 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1969) 23
<u>State Farm Fire and Casualty v. Nail</u> , 516 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987)
<u>Sunshine Dodge, Inc. v. Ketchem</u> , 445 So.2d 395 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984)
<u>Travelers Insurance Co. v. Bruns</u> , 443 So.2d 959 (Fla. 1984) 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, 17, 19, 20
<u>Yakelwicz v. Barnes</u> , 330 So.2d 810 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976) 2 <u>appeal dismissed</u> 341 So.2d 1087 (Fla. 1976) 2
STATUTES:
Chapter 324, <u>Florida Statutes</u>
§627.4136, <u>Florida Statutes</u> 10, 11, 13, 10
§627.7262, <u>Florida Statutes</u>

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner/Appellant, CANAL INSURANCE COMPANY, shall at all times be referred to as "CANAL," Respondent/Appellee, RICHARD DEWEY REED, shall at all times be referred to as "REED." Plaintiff, MICHAEL YORK, shall at all times be referred to as "YORK." Citations to the Appendix shall be designated as (A-).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On or about the 22nd day of November 1988, Plaintiff, YORK, filed an Amended Complaint in the Circuit Court of the Eighth Judicial Circuit, in and for Union County, Florida against Richard D. Reed. The Amended Complaint and demand for jury trial filed by YORK sought damages for personal injuries sustained while a passenger as a result of a motor vehicle accident. YORK's alleged injuries were caused by REED's negligent operation of a truck while on an abandoned railroad line in Kansas. CANAL continues to provide REED defense counsel pursuant to a reservation of rights.

REED brought a third-party action against CANAL and HODGES INSURANCE AGENCY (HODGES) for misrepresentation in the issuance of CANAL's insurance policy. CANAL filed a counterclaim against REED for declaratory relief because CANAL was and is in doubt as to its obligations under Policy No. 149456 which was issued to REED. This policy was for commercial motor vehicle insurance, including liability insurance. It was issued to REED as a named insured, effective October 23, 1986 through October 23, 1987. The policy was in full force and effect, subject to the exclusions and conditions contained therein, at the time of the alleged loss.

On January 29, 1991, the trial court severed the underlying suit brought by YORK against REED from the third-party action. The court order reflects that all parties <u>agreed</u> that the claims should be tried separately. By order of Judge Mickle dated November 21, 1991, the third-party action was bifurcated into a jury trial portion to determine the disputed factual questions and a non-jury

portion to determine the issue of coverage arising from the issuance of the insurance contract by CANAL to REED. On May 7, 1993, the trial court, through an order on the same date, recognized three (3) causes of action, the first being YORK's claim against REED for personal injuries; the second being REED's suit against HODGES for failure to provide insurance coverage as requested; and third being REED and CANAL's action for declaratory judgment. The court order reflected that all parties agreed that the above claims should be tried separately. Pursuant to this agreement, the trial court ordered that the declaratory judgment action between CANAL and REED be tried first, with the negligence claim of YORK against REED being tried after the claim of REED against HODGES, if the later claim was not rendered moot.

Lastly, on May 10, 1993, the trial court ordered that <u>Florida</u> law was to apply to all issues of fact and law during the jury and non-jury trials of the proceedings between CANAL and REED. In addition, the order acknowledged that the declaratory judgment action would be tried in two (2) parts. The first action would be a jury trial to determine YORK's employment status at the time of the accident. Second, in a non-jury proceeding, the court, would rule on the enforceability of the employee exclusion contained in the policy issued by CANAL.

On May 27, 1993, a jury trial was held in the Circuit Court in and for Union County, Florida before the Honorable Stan Morris, Case No.: 88-106-CA, styled <u>Canal Insurance Company v. Richard</u>

<u>Dewey Reed</u>. The jury found, via special interrogatory, that YORK was an employee of REED at the time of the July 2, 1987 accident.

On March 21, 1994, the trial court, in a non-jury proceeding, heard argument and took evidence regarding the employee exclusion contained within CANAL's motor vehicle liability insurance policy issued to REED. The relevant policy language states:

I - COVERAGE - A. Bodily Injury Liability

Exclusions: This insurance does not apply to:

bodily injury to (c) to any employee of the **insured** arising out of and in the course of his employment by the **insured** or to any obligation of the insured to indemnify another because of damages arising out of such injury . .

By order dated May 12, 1994, the trial court ruled that the employee exclusion contained within CANAL's policy was void, as against public policy. Furthermore, the court ordered CANAL to provide liability coverage to YORK.

On June 10, 1994, CANAL filed a timely Notice of Appeal to the First District Court of Appeal from the May 12, 1994 Order invalidating the employee exclusion contained within CANAL's motor vehicle liability insurance policy. The Notice of Appeal was in two parts. The first being an appeal of a Final Order Denying Canal's Declaratory Judgment as to an employee exclusion clause under its policy pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 9.030(b)(1)(A) and 9.110(a)(1). In the alternative, CANAL appealed

the trial court's order to the First District Court of Appeal as an appealable non-final order, pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 9.030(b)(1)(B) and 9.130(a)(3)(C)(4). (A-1, A-2) The appeal was assigned case number 94-1881 on the docket of the First District Court of Appeal.

Also, on June 10, 1994, CANAL petitioned the First District Court of Appeal for a writ of certiorari. Jurisdiction of the First District Court of Appeal was predicated upon Article 4, §4(b)(3), of the <u>Florida Constitution</u> (1968), and Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 9.030(b)(2)(A) and 9.100. (A-3 - A-22) The petition was assigned case number 94-1854.

The First District Court of Appeal by way of Order on July 8, 1994, required REED to show cause why Canal Insurance Company's Petition for Writ of Certiorari should not be granted. REED filed his Compliance with the Order to Show Cause on August 1, 1994. Thereafter, on the 16th day of August, 1994, CANAL filed its Reply Brief to REED's Compliance with Order to Show Cause.

The Initial Brief of Canal Insurance Company filed in the First District Court of Appeal in Case No. 94-1881 was timely filed on August 19, 1994. REED moved to dismiss CANAL's appeal on August 30, 1994. The Motion to Dismiss was directed solely toward Case No. 94-1881. Furthermore, the Motion to Dismiss only attempted to dispose of that portion of Case No. 94-1881 which sought review by the First District Court of Appeal by way of Review of a Non-Final Order determining the issue of liability in favor of a party seeking affirmative relief. On September 15, 1994, pursuant to the

Appellate Court's Order, CANAL filed its Response to the Court's Order to REED's Motion to Dismiss.

The First District Court of Appeal, by way of Order dated October 5, 1994, deferred its consideration of REED's Motion to Dismiss pending disposition of CANAL's Petition for Writ of Certiorari in Case No. 94-1854. Furthermore, the Court upon its own motion, stayed all further briefing in Case 94-1881 until further order. On April 13, 1995, the First District Court of Appeal filed its opinion which addressed both CANAL's Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Case No. 94-1854, and Notice of Appeal, Case No. 94-1881. The First District Court of Appeal denied CANAL's Petition for Certiorari in Case No. 94-1854 and further granted REED's Motion to Dismiss CANAL's Appeal Case No. 94-1881. (A-23 -A-36) In so doing, the First District Court of Appeal certified the following question to the Florida Supreme Court as one of great public importance:

WHEN AN INSURANCE COVERAGE ISSUE HAS BEEN DECIDED IN A THIRD-PARTY DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION BETWEEN AN INSURER AND ITS INSURED, PRIOR TO A FINAL DETERMINATION OF LIABILITY IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION, AND, AS A RESULT, THE INSURER MUST PROVIDE LIABILITY COVERAGE FOR THE INSURED IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION, MAY THE INSURER SEEK IMMEDIATE REVIEW OF THE ORDER ENTERED IN THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION AND, IF SO, WHAT CONSTITUTES THE PROPER AVENUE OF REVIEW: PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI, APPEAL OF A NON-FINAL ORDER PURSUANT TO RULE 9.130 OR APPEAL OF A FINAL ORDER?

On May 3, 1995, CANAL filed its timely Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of the Florida Supreme Court pursuant to the question certified by the First District Court of Appeal to be of great public importance. (A-37, A-38)

ISSUE ON APPEAL

WHEN AN INSURANCE COVERAGE ISSUE HAS BEEN DECIDED IN A THIRD-PARTY DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION BETWEEN AN INSURER AND ITS INSURED PRIOR TO A FINAL DETERMINATION OF LIABILITY IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION, AND, AS A RESULT, THE INSURER MUST PROVIDE LIABILITY COVERAGE FOR THE INSURED IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION, MAY THE INSURER SEEK IMMEDIATE REVIEW OF THE ORDER ENTERED IN THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION AND, IF SO, WHAT CONSTITUTES THE PROPER AVENUE OF REVIEW: PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI, APPEAL OF THE NON-FINAL ORDER PURSUANT TO RULE 9.130, OR APPEAL OF A FINAL ORDER?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The certified question posed by the First District Court of Appeal should be answered in the affirmative. Furthermore, CANAL would submit that the trial court's order directing CANAL to provide liability coverage entered in the declaratory judgment action should be subject to an immediate appeal as a final order pursuant to Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure, 9.030(b)(1)(A) and 9.110(a)(1). Once the trial court found the employee exclusion void as against public policy and ordered CANAL to provide liability coverage, there remained no further judicial action as to Canal Insurance Company.

In the alternative, CANAL believes that the trial court order directing CANAL to provide liability coverage is subject to immediate appeal as an interlocutory order pursuant to Florida 9.130(a)(3)(B) Rules Appellate Procedure, and of 9.130(a)(3)(C)(iv). The affirmative relief sought by REED and That relief has been CANAL was a determination of coverage. determined in favor of REED. Furthermore, the trial court's order mandates that CANAL provide a defense to REED throughout the pendency of the underlying suit. The trial court's order determines an issue in favor of a party seeking affirmative relief, or at the very least, operates as a mandatory injunction.

Lastly, if the trial court's order is not immediately reviewable by way of plenary or interlocutory appeal, the order should be subject to immediate review through common law petition for writ of certiorari. CANAL has demonstrated that the order

departs from the essential requirements of law and causes material and irreparable injury with no adequate remedy upon later appeal. It is clear CANAL would suffer material and irreparable injury with no adequate remedy on a later appeal by having to continue to provide a defense to REED in the underlying litigation. CANAL suffers irreparable injury regardless if REED prevails in the underlying suit or not.

The trial court's order departs from the essential requirements of law. Florida case law is clear that an employee exclusion clause contained within a motor vehicle liability insurance is violative of Florida's public policy when the subject policy was not certified as proof of financial responsibility under the laws contained within Chapter 324, Florida Statutes. In addition, the case law is clear that REED had the burden in showing that the employee exclusion clause contained within CANAL's policy violated Florida's financial responsibility laws. REED provided no record evidence to carry his burden.

ARGUMENT

WHEN AN INSURANCE COVERAGE ISSUE HAS BEEN DECIDED IN A THIRD-PARTY DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION BETWEEN AN INSURER AND ITS INSURED PRIOR TO A FINAL DETERMINATION OF LIABILITY IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION, AND, AS A RESULT, THE INSURER MUST PROVIDE LIABILITY COVERAGE FOR THE INSURED IN THE UNDERLYING ACTION, MAY THE INSURER SEEK IMMEDIATE REVIEW OF THE ORDER ENTERED IN THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACTION AND, IF SO, WHAT CONSTITUTES THE PROPER AVENUE OF REVIEW: PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI, APPEAL OF THE NON-FINAL ORDER PURSUANT TO RULE 9.130, OR APPEAL OF A FINAL ORDER?

REVIEW AS A FINAL ORDER

It is CANAL's contention that the trial court's June 10, 1994 Order directing CANAL to provide liability coverage pursuant to Policy No. 149456 issued to REED is reviewable as a final order. The touchtone determination in deciding whether an appeal is to be made from a final order is whether the trial court's judicial efforts have concluded as to a particular claimant. Clearly, the trial court's mandate that CANAL provide coverage pursuant to its Policy concludes any and all judicial efforts against CANAL on the declaratory judgment action which had been severed for separate trial in the Circuit Court. There is no further determination to be made against CANAL, as CANAL has not been, and cannot be sued directly in the underlying case styled <u>YORK v. REED</u>. <u>See</u> §627.4136, Fla. Stat. (1993).

In <u>Georgia American Ins. Co. v. Rios</u>, 491 So.2d 1290 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986), the Second District Court of Appeal determined that an appeal brought by an insurer based upon a determination of coverage is to be treated as a plenary appeal. <u>Id.</u> at 1291. The facts underlying <u>Rios</u> are strikingly similar to those of the instant

case. In <u>Rios</u>, the injured occupant of an automobile brought suit for her injuries and in her representative capacity, for injuries to her children, against the owner and the operator of a second automobile for damages. <u>Id.</u> at 1290. Thereafter, the defendants filed a third-party action against their insurer, Georgia American Ins. Co. <u>Id.</u> at 1291. The parties stipulated that the third-party action for bad faith against Georgia American would precede the underlying lawsuit. <u>Id.</u> Thereafter, after a jury trial, a verdict was returned finding Georgia American guilty of bad faith, the trial court entered an order which stated that Georgia American was jointly liable with its insured to pay any judgment for damages for which the insured might be found liable to the plaintiff.

The Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Rios</u> distinguished the case which the First District Court of Appeal relied on in the instant case, to wit: <u>Travelers Insurance Co. v. Bruns</u>, 443 So.2d 959 (Fla. 1984). The Second District Court of Appeal pointed out that <u>Bruns</u> involved a suit for personal injuries by the plaintiff against an allegedly negligent driver <u>and</u> the driver's liability insurer. <u>Id.</u> at 1291.

The distinction between <u>Bruns</u> and <u>Georgia American</u> is that the incident in <u>Bruns</u> occurred prior to the effective date of §627.7262, <u>Florida Statutes</u>. (currently §627.4136, <u>Fla. Stat</u>. (1993). This statute, referred to as the non-joinder statute, prevents the plaintiff from including in its lawsuit against the alleged tort-feasor, the tort-feasor's liability insurer. The passage of the non-joinder statute is critical in determining

whether the trial court's decision as to coverage is a final order. In <u>Bruns</u>, because the insurance company was a party to the direct action of the plaintiff against the alleged tort-feasor, the trial court's adverse decision as to coverage did not conclude all judicial efforts. There still remained a determination as to the plaintiff's direct claim against the insured. <u>Id.</u> at 1291.

However, due to the non-joinder statute, the plaintiff in <u>Rios</u> was precluded from suing Georgia American directly. Therefore, the only pending action against Georgia American was brought by its insured in a third-party action. <u>Id</u>. The Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Rios</u> held that since the only claim pending against Georgia American had been decided by the trial court's determination as to coverage, the appeal by Georgia American should be by way of plenary appeal. <u>Id</u>. The court stated . . . "there is no further order to be entered with respect to Georgia American. Therefore, Georgia American must now appeal or pay any judgment finally entered against Kennedy (underlying defendant)." <u>Id</u>. The court further stated:

"The posture of this case is analogous to a situation in which the plaintiff sues the defendant for damages and because the defendant's insurance coverage is in dispute, the defendant and his insurer litigate the question of coverage in a separate suit for declaratory judgment. If the insurer suffers an adverse judgment on the question of coverage, it must necessarily appeal that judgment rather than trying to raise the coverage issue in a later appeal from a judgment which might be entered against its insured in the primary action."

<u> 1d.</u>

Similarly, as this court stated in the special concurrence by Justice Shaw in <u>Bruns</u>, the incident in <u>Bruns</u> having occurred prior

to the effective date of the non-joinder statute allowed the trial court to enter one judgment as to all parties, including the tort-feasor's insurer. <u>Bruns</u> at 961. As Justice Shaw predicted, §627.7262 (currently §627.4136, <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1993)) produces several lawsuits where insurance coverage is disputed. Justice Shaw stated:

". . . In the first action plaintiff A will sue defendant B (alleged insured) on the issue of negligence and damages. Simultaneously, if coverage is disputed, either B or C (alleged insurer) will be obliged to seek a declaratory judgment against the other in a second action. . . (Alternatively B could bring a third-party action against C in the first action but this would not change the rights or positions of the parties). If A wins against B in the first action, C wins against B in the second action, and A then sues C in a third action . . , we will have the ingredients of a very interesting law school problem, particularly if one or the other of the actions involving B is a 'sweetheart suit' which B does not aggressively or competently pursue."

<u>Id.</u> at 961, 962.

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