## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 85,680 District Court of Appeal 1st District - Nos. 94-1854 94-1881

CANAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD DEWEY REED,

Respondent,

CANAL INSURANCE COMPANY

Appellant,

v.

MICHAEL YORK,

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT/APPELLEE, RICHARD DEWEY REED

STEVEN D. TURNAGE, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 0802107 PHILIP BARTON, ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 003947 LAW OFFICES OF BARTON, SORACI, FRANKENBERGER, SURRENCY & TURNAGE 200 NE First Street Gainesville, Florida 32601 Telephone: (904) 376-4671 Fax: (904) 376-6017 Attorneys for Respondent/Appellee

####

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

judicial economy rule announced in <u>Bruns</u>. Clearly, the Florida Supreme Court did not severely restrict Rule 9.130 review so that more interlocutory coverage determinations could be reviewed instead as final orders.

Canal cites <u>Georgia American Insurance Company v. Rios</u>, 491 So. 2d 1290, (Fla. 2nd DCA 1986) for the proposition that an insurer may bring a plenary appeal from an adverse coverage determination. Canal's position dramatically overstates the limited holding in <u>Rios</u>. Because of the unique procedural of posture of <u>Rios</u>, it is clearly distinguishable from <u>Bruns</u> and the instant case.

In <u>Rios</u>, an injured motorist brought personal injury and wrongful death actions against the owner and operator of another motor vehicle. <u>Id</u>. at 1290. Prior to trial, attorneys for the plaintiff and the defendants, joined by attorneys for the alleged tortfeasor's liability insurer, entered into an unusual written stipulation which was ratified by the trial court. <u>Id</u> at 1291. In the stipulation, the parties and the tortfeasor's liability insurer agreed as follows:

1. The defendants were to file and diligently prosecute a third party action against Georgia American.

2. Georgia American would not raise as a defense the fact that no judgment in the principal action had yet been entered against any of the defendant insureds.

3. Georgia American would pay to the plaintiffs \$12,000.00.

4. In the event that it was finally determined that Georgia American was not liable in the third party action, the plaintiffs

# would execute a full release of all claims and dismiss their action with prejudice.

5. In the event it was determined that Georgia American was liable in the third party action for bad faith, "such determination would bind the insurance company to pay any judgment in which may be entered in the main action described above" and the plaintiffs would not execute on any judgment against the individual defendants.

6. No party to the agreement waived any right of appeal. <u>Id</u>. (emphasis added).

After the written stipulation was approved by the Court, a jury trial was held on the third party bad faith claim, and the jury returned a verdict finding the liability insurer guilty of bad faith. <u>Id</u>. The trial court then entered an order stating that the liability insurer was jointly liable with the defendant to pay any judgment for damages which might later be determined. <u>Id</u>. The liability insurer then initiated a plenary appeal. <u>Id</u>. The plaintiff and defendant filed motions to dismiss on the premise that the appeal was from a non-appealable order under the rationale of <u>Bruns</u>. <u>Id</u>.

In holding that the trial court's order was a final order, the <u>Rios</u> court noted that the distinction between <u>Bruns</u> and <u>Rios</u> was that <u>Rios</u> arose after the effective date of F.S. 627.7262 (1985), (currently F.S. 627.4136), the non-joinder statute. <u>Id</u>. The court stated erroneously that the liability insurer could never have been made a party to the lawsuit, except for the written stipulation. <u>Id</u>. The court surmised that since the judgment provided that the liability insurer was to pay any damage judgment entered against

the tortfeasor, there was no further order to be entered with respect to the liability insurer. <u>Id</u>. The court failed to note that the liability insurer could have been made a party to the suit by way of a third-party action without contravening the non-joinder statute. <u>Tindall v. Travelers Indemnity Co.</u>, 613 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993).

The distinction between Rios and Bruns is not, as stated by Canal, that Bruns occurred prior to the effective date of Section Rather, the unique stipulation entered into by the 627.4136. parties and the liability insurer in Rios provides the real distinction between the two cases. Because of its potential bad faith exposure, the liability insurer in Rios apparently struck an all or nothing bargain with its insured and the Plaintiffs. Under this risky arrangement, a final determination that the liability insurer was not required to indemnify its insureds, would require the Plaintiffs to dismiss their underlying tort action with prejudice, apparently after the receipt of \$12,000.00. Conversely, however, if the jury determined that the liability insurer had acted in bad faith towards its insureds, such a determination would bind the insurer to pay any judgment ultimately entered against its insureds, even a judgment exceeding the insurance limits. Clearly, an ultimate determination of bad faith would essentially end the litigation as to the liability carrier who had bargained away their ability to contest the underlying claim.

In the instant case, on the other hand, the court has simply

ordered Canal to indemnify Reed, to the limits of their coverage, in the event he is liable for York's injuries. Canal, of course, remains a party to the lawsuit, disputes York's claim entirely due to the uncertain liability, and remains in a position to fully protect its interests. Canal is now free to vigorously defend its insured and, perhaps, vindicate his position entirely at trial; a course of action which would eliminate Canal's further exposure to a subsequent breach of contract actin and ensure a zealous defense of its insured. Likewise, Canal is also free to provide no further defense to Reed, thereby avoiding any continuing expenses on his behalf throughout the remainder of the lower court proceedings.

The non-joinder statute should have no bearing on an insurer's ability to appeal an adverse interlocutory coverage determination as a final order. The statute simply requires that a non-insured first obtain a settlement or verdict against an insured before initiating a direct action against a liability insurer. F.S. 627.4136 (1992). The statute does not forbid an insured or an insurance company from bringing a third-party action to determine coverage, thereby allowing an insurer to become a party to the lawsuit. Tindall at 1370. As pointed out by the First District Court of Appeal, Canal retained its status as a party in the If money damages are ever assessed against Reed, the lawsuit. final judgment could provide for Canal's obligation to pay, thereby ensuring Canal's right to appeal the final judgment and to raise any and all questions concerning the initial coverage determination. Since Canal is a third-party defendant in this

lawsuit, such a procedure does not violate the non-joinder law.

Because the entire lawsuit remains unresolved, and Canal remains intimately involved, having waived none of their rights to either defend or settle this suit, it can hardly be said that no further judicial efforts are to be taken with respect to Canal.

#### II. ARGUMENT AGAINST REVIEW AS A NON-FINAL ORDER

The District courts have carefully followed <u>Bruns</u> in finding that non-final orders deciding insurance coverage questions are not revealable under Rule 9.130, Fla.R.App.P. <u>Liberty Mutual Insurance</u> <u>Company v. Lonestar Industries, Inc.</u>, 556 So. 2d 1122 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990); <u>Oqur v. Mogel</u>, 390 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1980).

The posture of the instant case is identical to <u>Bruns</u>. The trial court's order simply requires Canal to indemnify Reed should York ever prevail on the liability issue. The order is silent as to whether Canal must provide a defense. Canal, therefore, is free now to either provide a defense or not, weighing the risk that their failure to defend might ultimately be considered a breach of their contract with their insured should he ever wish to pursue the issue in a separate lawsuit. Nevertheless, the <u>Bruns</u> policy of severely restricting piecemeal review should apply equally to those interlocutory orders determining a duty to defend.

As the First District Court of Appeals noted in its opinion, "The burden of defending after an adverse coverage determination is a financial one, similar to that resulting from other nonappealable interlocutory orders, e.g. denial of a motion to

dismiss." 20 FLW (D) 950, 952 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). There are numerous cases where non-appealable interlocutory orders subject a party to the continuing financial burden of defending a lawsuit. Denials of motions to dismiss, for instance, clearly do not provide the avenue of an immediate 9.130 appeal, although such rulings subject the losing litigant to the financial strains of a continuing defense. <u>RD & G Leasing, Inc. v. Stebnicki</u>, 626 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1993); <u>Agency Rent-A-Car, Inc. v. Brauerman</u>, 480 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985). <u>Canadian Home Insurance</u> <u>Company v. Norris</u>, 471 So. 2d 217 (4th DCA 1985).

The rule of restrictive review is analogous where a final summary judgment is entered on one count of a multi-count complaint were inter-related counts remain. <u>Welch v. Resolution Trust</u> <u>Corporation</u>, 590 So. 2d 1098 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991).

The result is the same for 9.130 appeals from partial summary judgments. <u>Interamerican Car Rental v. O'Brien</u>, 618 So. 2d 760 (3rd DCA 1993); and <u>Dixon v. Allstate Insurance Co.</u>, 609 So. 2d 71 (1st DCA 1992).

Similarly, immediate non-final appeals cannot be taken from interlocutory orders setting aside default judgments. <u>Caribbean</u> <u>Agencies, Inc. v. Agri-Export, Inc.</u>, 384 So. 2d 281 (4th DCA 1980); <u>Security Motors, Inc. v. Fiat Motors of North America, Inc.</u>, 373

So. 2d 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).

Canal has cited <u>Insurance Company of North America v. Querns</u>, 562 So. 2d 365 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990), for the proposition that an interlocutory order requiring an insurance company to defend its insured is appealable as a non-final order under Rule 9.130. <u>Querns</u> is factually dissimilar from the instant case in at least two respects. First, <u>Querns</u> involved a separate action against the liability insurer seeking a declaratory judgment. <u>Id</u>. at 366. In the instant case, on the other hand, Canal has also been named as a third-party defendant in an action based on misrepresentation in the issuance of the subject insurance policy. Second, the issue of indemnification in <u>Querns</u> had become moot because of subsequent developments in the third-party action, leaving only the issue of the liability insurer's duty to defend at issue. <u>Id</u>.

In contrast to <u>Querns</u>, a final resolution of the coverage question in the instant case does not resolve the lawsuit as to Canal. The lower court may still find Canal liable to Reed if there was misrepresentation in the issuance of the insurance policy. Therefore, Canal will continue to suffer the financial strain of further litigation regardless of whether they choose to defend Reed in the tort action or not.

Even assuming that the procedural posture of the instant case was identical to <u>Ouerns</u> (i.e. the duty to defend was the only issue remaining), the sound policy rationale of <u>Bruns</u> to limit needless appellate proceedings should still apply. Whereas Canal has argued

that the denial of immediate judicial review on the question of duty to defend may prolong the underlying litigation, in many instances the opposite will be true. By allowing an insured to bring a plenary or non-final appeal from a duty to defend determination shifts the lawsuit from the trial arena to a lengthy appeals process.

The better procedure is for the initial coverage and duty to defend determination to be made at the trial level subject to a plenary appeal only after the trier of fact has determined liability in the underlying tort suit. After an adverse coverage determination, an insurer may either elect to defend or not, basing its decision on its assessment of its chances of ultimately prevailing on the coverage issue. This process would conserve the resources of the appellate courts and compel plaintiffs to assess their chances of recovery on the merits of their cause of action and the resources of the alleged tortfeasor rather than the "deep pocket" supposedly offered by the insurance coverage. This is consistent with the spirit of the non-joinder statute which was meant to preserve insurers' status as indemnitors rather than as actual litigants.

## III. ARGUMENT AGAINST REVIEW BY PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

It is clear from the 1977 Committee notes to Rule 9.130 that the common law writ of certiorari is available only in the most extraordinary of situations and should be largely unavailable as an expedient method to attack interlocutory rulings not falling

## within the narrow confines of Rule 9.130.

"The Advisory Committee was aware that the common law Writ of Certiorari is available at anytime and did not intend to abolish the Writ. <u>However, because that Writ</u> <u>provides a remedy only if the Petitioner meets the heavy</u> <u>burden of showing that a clear departure from the</u> <u>essential requirements of law has resulted in otherwise</u> <u>irreparable harm, it is extremely rare that erroneous</u> <u>interlocutory rulings can be corrected by resort to</u> <u>common law Writ of Certiorari</u>. It is anticipated that because the most urgent interlocutory orders are appealed under this rule, there will be very few occasions upon which common law Certiorari will provide relief." (emphasis added)

Florida courts have been careful not to unnecessarily broaden the common law writ of certiorari when it is apparent that Rule 9.130 was promulgated to restrict it. The appropriate standard of review is found in <u>Martin-Johnson, Inc. v. Savage</u>, 509 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 1987), where this Court held that a non-final order from which no appeal has been provided by Rule 9.130 is reviewable by certiorari only when the order departs from the essential requirements of law, causes material and irreparable injury to the Petitioner throughout the remainder of the lower court proceedings, and leaves the Petitioner with no adequate remedy on a later appeal. <u>Id</u>. at 1099.

In <u>Dairyland Insurance Company v. McKenzie</u>, 251 So. 2d 887 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971), the First District Court of Appeal held that common law certiorari was unavailable to review an interlocutory order finding that an insurance company was legally bound to afford coverage when no judgment had yet been rendered against the insured. <u>Id</u>. at 888. In <u>Dairyland</u>, Plaintiff sued a defendant and

her insurance company for the negligent operation of a motor vehicle. <u>Id</u>. In the course of the action, the trial court found that Dairyland was legally bound to afford coverage to its insureds despite the insurance company's contention that the non-owners clause of the insurance policy excluded coverage. <u>Id</u>. In holding for the insureds, and denying the insurance company's petition for writ of certiorari, the court stated:

"From the record before us it appears that no judgment has yet been rendered against either Petitioner or its insured, the Willises. Until such an event occurs, no injury will be suffered by Petitioner. If such contingency does eventuate, Petitioner will then have an adequate and complete remedy by appeal for correcting the trial court's erroneous ruling if such ruling constitutes a departure from the essential requirements of law as contended." <u>Id</u>.

The posture of the instant case and <u>Dairyland</u> is identical. There has been no judgment rendered against the insured and therefore, no injury has been suffered by Petitioner. See also <u>Sapp v.</u> <u>LaViolette</u>, 242 So. 2d 483, 485 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970).

Under similar facts, the First District Court of Appeal has recently held that an interlocutory order requiring a party to indemnify another party is not reviewable by certiorari when the issue of liability has not yet been determined. <u>BE+K, Inc. v.</u> <u>Seminole Kraft Corp.</u>, 583 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). In <u>Seminole Kraft</u>, the Plaintiffs filed a premises liability suit against Seminole Kraft who subsequently filed a third party complaint against BE+K seeking indemnification pursuant to a hold harmless agreement purportedly relieving Seminole Kraft from

liability. Id. at 362. BE+K denied liability, alleged that Seminole Kraft was not entitled to indemnification because the hold harmless provision failed to comply with 725.06, Florida Statutes, and urged that the Plaintiffs' injury was caused by Seminole Kraft's sole negligence. Id. Seminole Kraft's motion for partial summary judgment on the indemnification issue was granted. Id. at 363. BE+K then appealed the interlocutory ruling as a non-final "determining liability in favor of a party seeking order affirmative relief" pursuant to 9.130 (a)(3)(C)(iv), and, alternatively, as a petition for common law writ of certiorari. Id. The appellate court dismissed BE+K's Rule 9.130 appeal and denied its request for a writ holding that:

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